IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID PAUL WILSON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO:

2007-KA-01397-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I, Doyle L. Coats, hereby certify that the following listed persons have an interest in this case. This representation is made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

David Paul Wilson, MSP #M2971 South Mississippi Correctional Institution P.O. Box 1419 Leakesville, Mississippi 39451

F. Philip Wittmann, IV, Appellant's trial attorney P.O. Box 1648 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502

Jerry O. Terry, Sr., Circuit Judge P.O. Box 1461 Gulfport, Mississippi 39506

Statement of Issues

Issue I.

It was plain error for Mr. Wilson to be tried on a multi-count indictment

Issue II.

Mr. Wilson's jury was not sworn with either the capital oath or the general oath as is statutorily and constitutionally required for all juries. Because of this, his jury was not legal according to Mississippi Supreme Court case law, and the verdicts are a nullity.

Issue III.

Mr. Wilson's indictment—with the time of the crime alleged in it spanning a period of six months on two separate charges—failed to give him proper notice and fails constitutionally because it is too vague to defend. It was plain error for the trial court to proceed on such an indictment.

Issue IV.

The trial court erred in giving Instructions S-3, S-4 and S-6 as they improperly singled out and emphasized "penetration", one element of the charge in Count II, and not an element at all in Count I. Additionally, S-6 was a peremptory instruction on the age of CBL, Finally, Instruction S-4 confused the jury by defining degrees of penetration and allowed further consideration of that inadmissible element in Count I.

Issue V.

Under Daubert and MRE 702, Mr. Wilson was entitled to a "gate-keeping" hearing regarding the admissibility of the results of a police-administered voice-stress test which showed that he was not deceptive when he denied committing the crimes set out in the indictment. The trial court abused its discretion in summarily granting the state's motion in limine to exclude the favorable results, rather than conducting such a hearing.

Issue VI.

The state produced insufficient evidence to support Mr. Wilson's convictions in both Count I and Count II, and each verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence. Thus, the trial court erred in denying Mr. Wilson's request for a peremptory instruction, his combined Motion for a Directed Verdict/Motion to Dismiss as well as his Motion for a New Trial.

Procedural History

David Paul Wilson was indicted by the March 2005 Grand Jury for the First District of Harrison County in Cause Number B-2401-2005-289. He was charged with fondling in Count I and sexual battery in Count II. After arraignment, and various continuances sought by both the state and counsel for Mr. Wilson, he proceeded to trial on June 14, 2006, represented by Hon. F. Philip Wittmann IV., acting in his role as a contract public defender for Harrison County. Voir dire was completed and a jury was seated, and on the next day, June 15, 2006, motions were had, opening statements were made, and the state completed its case-in-chief, with Mr. Wilson calling one of his witnesses. On the third and final day of the trial, Mr. Wilson testified, closing arguments were given by both the state and the defense, and the case went to the jury, which returned verdicts of guilty on both counts. The trial court sentenced him to serve a term of 7 (seven) years for fondling, and 20 (twenty) years for sexual battery, to be run concurrently, for a total of twenty years to serve in the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole or conditional release.

A Motion for a New Trial was filed on June 22, 2006, and an order was filed on July 17, 2007, denying the motion, with no evidence appearing in the record to show that a hearing was conducted. New counsel, Hon. Doyle L. Coats, and Hon. Ross Parker Simons, filed the required paperwork to perfect Mr. Wilson's appeal, which follows.

Statement of the Case and Facts Relevant to Review

I. Motions and Rulings

Prior to the calling of witnesses in this case, the trial court heard motions from Mr.

Wilson and from the state. The trial court granted *ore tenus* motions in limine from Mr. Wilson

to exclude any testimony of past convictions, and of any bad acts of Mr. Wilson not related to this case. (Tr. 54-56). Another motion was made to limit what Donald Matherne, Ph.D, could testify to regarding the veracity or credibility of the victim. This motion was mooted because the trial judge prohibited Dr. Matherne's testimony because his examination of the child was not for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment, and thus inadmissible under MRE 803(4). (Tr. 213). The trial court did permit the state—over a defense objection—to call Rebecca Lopez, the child's mother, and detective lieutenant Rosario "Chayo" Ing finding that their testimony of what the child said to them met the requirements for admissibility under the "tender years" exception of MRE 803(25). (Tr. 83-85). Defense counsel also argued a Motion to take the jury to the scene of the alleged crime, which the trial court tacitly denied. (Tr. 85).

The state presented the court with two *ore tenus* motions in limine. The first was to exclude testimony of a *lack* of incidents similar to those charged in the indictment, while Mr. Wilson was around other children. Second was a motion in limine which successfully excluded any reference to a "voice stress analysis" administered to Mr. Wilson by a Detective Billy Strange, Certified Voice Stress Analyst for the Gulfport Police Department Detective Division, and which "deemed that [Mr. Wilson's] answers were truthful and that he was not being deceptive in his denials of these allegations." (By Assistant District Attorney Smith at Tr. 89, Bates number 40, Exhibit A, Appellant's Brief page 36). The state's third motion was more along the lines of an agreement by both sides that the child's stuffed animal could accompany her to the witness stand. (Tr. 91).

II. Testimony of State's Witnesses

The state called three witnesses: CBL¹, the <u>ten-year old</u> prosecutrix; her mother, Rebecca Lopez; and Rosario "Chayo" Ing, a detective lieutenant in the Gulfport Police Department in 2003, at the time of the incident alleged in the indictment.

A. CBL Direct Testimony

CBL relayed to the jury on direct examination her recollections of what was alleged in the indictment to have occurred between June and November of 2003. She testified that at the time in question she was in the first grade for the second time and that her after-school baby sitter was Ms. Ellen Wilson, who during that time sometimes kept up to four other children. David Wilson, Ms. Ellen's son, would sometimes be present and she would "play tickle" with him. (Tr. 109). Some of the tickles were "good touches" but others were not, when he touched her "in the tinkle", which she identified for the prosecutor as her "private part". (Tr. 110). She testified that Mr. Wilson touched her "tinkle" in the living room, the bathroom, his room and Ms. Ellen's room, asserting that it happened in the bathroom "more than once." (Tr. 111).

In the bathroom on one occasion, CBL testified, Mr. Wilson tried to put his fingers inside of her "tinkle" and that she had touched his "private". (Tr. 112-113). Contact had occurred more than once in the living room, according to the witness on direct examination, with Mr. Wilson putting his hand inside her underwear while the two were lying on the couch. (Tr. 114). The witness also testified that there was contact in Mr. Wilson's bedroom on more than one occasion, on top of his bed, under the covers, with each having their clothes on. The final location for the

¹ The witness/prosecutrix was called this in the indictment, and will be referred to by this throughout this brief.

purported contact was in Ms. Ellen's room on her bed, under the covers, with this occurring more than once. At one time, according to the witness, Mr. Wilson made her swear not to tell anyone, and promised her a toy. (Tr. 117). At the end of her direct testimony, CBL stated that she had told her mother, the police and a psychologist about the incidents. (Tr. 117).

B. <u>CBL Cross-Examination</u>

On cross examination, CBL testified that she had talked to her first grade principal and her first grade teacher about the incidents alleged in the indictment, and that these discussions occurred after she had spoken to her mother, Detective Ing, and Dr. Matherne. (Tr. 119). She also explained that she had to repeat the first grade because of having temper tantrums "whenever I would get something wrong, I would throw a temper [tantrum] and go out of the room." (Tr. 120).

CBL described to the jury that she and David Wilson would play tickling games and that she would jump on top of him when he was watching television and was not looking. He tickled her on her feet, and in her armpits and her mother an father were never present when these tickling games were played. (Tr. 124-125).

Right before CBL reported the contact to her mother she received a book entitled "Say No To Strangers", which explained that "bad touch" occurs in areas a bathing suit would cover, and advised as its title indicates. A couple of days after she read the book CBL decided that she should tell her mother. (Tr. 125).

CBL further testified that she had an imaginary friend named Max, and that he was with her while she was on the witness stand, and that she had some dolls with her when she talked to Detective Ing. These dolls made her have the courage to tell what happened and had been given to her by relatives, but they were replaced by a toy dog that she had with her on the witness stand because the dolls had been lost in Katrina. (Tr. 127).

In recounting an incident on the couch, CBL testified that it lasted five to ten minutes and that Ms. Ellen was around the house, performing domestic tasks or watching television. She had some difficulty in placing the furniture in the living room when shown Defense Exhibit 1, but located Ms. Ellen's rocking chair and other furniture in the living room when shown a second photograph of the room (Defense Exhibit 2), stating that Ms. Ellen was in her rocking chair near the couch where she alleged that the contact had taken place, and that Ms. Ellen "didn't even know" because "[s]he was watching TV". (Tr. 134-135). As explanation, she testified that she and David Wilson would normally be covered up to the waist with a sheet, and that while being penetrated with two of David Wilson's fingers, the only sound they made was "a little laughing noise." CBL also recalled for the jury that she told Detective Ing about the two-finger penetration that had occurred in the living room. (Tr. 136, 137).

CBL further recounted an alleged incident in the bathroom while she was weighing herself. (Tr. 139-140). She described the lock on the bathroom door in two different ways, once stating that the locking button was in the middle of the knob, then that it was below the knob, and that the lock was disengaged by simply turning the door knob. She testified that David Wilson was completely naked when he walked in and that Ms. Ellen was "out watching TV" in an area he would have traversed on his way to the bathroom. (Tr. 140,141), and that while in the bathroom, David Wilson asked her to "touch his tinkle", that she complied and that he touched her "tinkle" and that this transpired in a period of five or ten minutes. She testified that he was unclothed for this incident and that he told her not to tell because he would get in trouble, and

that she said nothing when she came out, and that she did not mention that David Wilson was naked to Det. Ing because "I didn't think that was really important". (Tr. 148).

CBL also testified that there were two bathrooms in the house, using Defense Exhibit 1 to describe in detail how a second bathroom connected to Ms. Ellen's bedroom and was reached by walking alongside Ms. Ellen's bed and making a turn to arrive at it. (Tr. 143).

CBL further testified that Ms. Ellen saw her when she opened the door to leave the hallway bathroom (not the bathroom she described as being accessed through Ms. Ellen's room) because Ms. Ellen was right outside the door watching television and could see her from there. (Tr. 145-147).

The third incident CBL recounted on cross-examination was alleged to have occurred in David Wilson's bedroom. (Tr. 150). CBL recounted that the incident happened in the bed, but that she had told Det. Ing that it happened in the closet. CBL chose this time to say that it happened in both the closet and on the bed. (Tr. 150). In the closet, CBL testified, David Wilson would touch her "tinkle" and she would sometimes touch his. (Tr. 154).

Finally, CBL testified of an incident alleged to have occurred in Ms. Ellen's bedroom and that Ms. Ellen had a waterbed. She said it was on the waterbed in Ms. Ellen's room where David Wilson inserted two fingers in her "tinkle" (Tr. 157), that it "didn't hurt at all" (Tr. 159), and that they had tried to get under Ms. Ellen's waterbed but had not been able to because it was too close to the ground. (Tr. 157). In Ms. Ellen's room, both parties were fully clothed. (Tr. 158).

C. Rebecca Lopez, CBL's Mother, Direct

Ms. Lopez testified that CBL had gone to Ms. Ellen's house for after-school baby sitting

since about June 2003, and that she would ordinarily stay there anywhere from an hour to an hour and a half until she was picked up. (Tr. 166). CBL initially liked going to Ms. Ellen's, but on November 4, 2003, on her arrival, she indicated that she was pleased that "he" was not there. The next day, CBL asked if she could not go to Ms. Ellen's, but was told she had to go there because there was no other place for her to stay. (Tr. 167, 168). After some discussion, CBL told her mother that David Wilson had toucher her "private" and that she had promised not to tell. (Tr. 168). After this Ms. Lopez did not take CBL back to Ms. Ellen's house, and contacted the Gulfport Police Department, where they reported her daughter's allegations to the Rosario "Chayo" Ing. (Tr. 170). Ms. Lopez further reported that CBL had been given a book called "Just Say No to Strangers" while she was in the first grade. (Tr. 170-171). She further testified that she noticed changes in CBL's behavior, including a reluctance to enter her school the way she previously had, that she did not want to attend Sunday school at the church/school complex, and that felt insecure at day camp and in her bedroom. (Tr. 174-175).

D. Rebecca Lopez, Cross

On cross-examination, Ms. Lopez testified that CBL had been held back to repeat first grade because she was "too immature" for the second grade. (Tr. 175). CBL had been upset about being held back for a "little bit" around August or September, the beginning of the school year the second time she went to first grade. (Tr.176). The witness did not remember exactly when in June and July 2003 that CBL went to Ms. Ellen's house to be kept until she or her husband could come to pick her up, and testified that CBL was sometimes kept by her grandmother during those months. (Tr. 178). Ms. Lopez further testified that she agreed with the teacher's assessment that her daughter was "immature" (Tr. 180).

E. Detective Rosario "Chayo" Ing., Direct

Ing testified that she interviewed CBL on November 14, 2003, (Tr. 220) about "some incidents" that occurred while she was being kept at Ms.Ellen's house. (Tr. 218). She used the sketches of a boy and a girl introduced as State's Exhibits 1 and 2 to have CBL identify body parts. (Tr. 219), and noted that CBL hesitated in naming the genital areas in both the male and female diagram because CBL did not have a name for them. Ing chose the name "private" and CBL agreed to the designation. (Tr. 222). Initially, CBL stated to Ing that the touching she alleged had occurred "inside of her clothing on top of her underwear. (Tr. 224).

Four incidents were described: one in the living room, one in the bathroom one in David Wilson's bedroom and one in Ms. Ellen's bedroom. (Tr. 224). CBL described the event alleged to have occurred in the living room as involving tickling, and stated that David Wilson's hand was inside her pants, but outside her underwear. (Tr. 225). Second, CBL described to Ing a time when she was in the bathroom weighing herself when David Wilson entered. He touched her "on the vaginal area" and nothing else happened. The third event described involved David Wilson's bedroom, where CBL and Mr. Wilson went into the closet where both had opened clothing and where Mr. Wilson had "touched on the vaginal area". At this time, CBL saw Mr. Wilson's "private" according to Ing's testimony of what CBL had told her. (Tr. 225). The fourth of the described incidents took place in Ms. Ellen's bedroom, according to CBL. She initially told Ing that they were under the bed when it occurred, then told Ing they were on top of the bed. (Tr. 225-226). She stated that on this occasion David Wilson was disrobed, and that she had touched him. (Tr. 226).

Ing further testified that CBL told her these incidents had occurred "a lot of times" but

that she, Ing, could never determine specifically how many. She testified that in most cases when a child states that the incidents happened "lots of times, it can be—to them it can be just two times; it can be 20 or 30 times....[i]t's difficult to ascertain specifically how many times it happened." (Tr. 227).

F. Rosario "Chayo" Ing. Cross

On cross-examination, Ing testified that she made an audiotape but not a videotape of her interview with CBL. When asked directly by defense counsel if CBL ever "relate[ed] that Mr. Wilson had inserted his fingers into her," Ing initially testified that CBL had described "that there was an attempt, not that he actually penetrated her," and that CBL had said "it was sort of inside." (Tr. 232-233). When pressed to find these assertions by CBL in her synopsis, Ing requested and was granted the opportunity to look at the interview itself, and could find only that CBL "indicate[d] rubbing", conceding that CBL never mentioned anything to her about insertion or an attempt to insert. (Tr. 233).

Det. Ing testified that David Wilson had contacted her and voluntarily come to her office when he heard she was looking for him about a week after she began her investigation. (Tr. 229). He told of the tickling games between he and CBL and said if there had been any inappropriate contact it would have been incidental to the tickling matches, fleeting and accidental. (Tr. 230). He also voluntarily contacted Det. Ing a few days later telling Ing his theory that CBL may have viewed a graphic T-shirt in his room that could have set off the allegations. (Tr. 232).

As to the living room incident, Ing reiterated her direct testimony that CBL had not stated that there had been any insertion, nor did CBL mention to her that there was a cover or a blanket involved in the incident. (Tr. 235).

Regarding the bathroom incident, Ing testified that CBL had told her that David Wilson was fully clothed when he entered the bathroom, and that CBL had not told her where Ms. Ellen was during this time. Also, that the bathroom door was locked. (Tr. 236). CBL, per Ing, had described her clothing as "partially down," and had not told her of any other incidents, other than this one, which had occurred in the bathroom. (Tr. 237).

Regarding the closet in David Wilson's room, Ing testified that CBL had not told her anything about a light or any other description of the closet itself, only stating that the bedroom door was locked. CBL told Ing that her pants and underwear were down and that David Wilson's pants were down with him not wearing underwear. (Tr. 238). As to insertion, Ing testified that CBL had not told her that any penetration had taken place, but said he touched her "on her genital area." (Tr. 239).

The final of the four incidents was said to have occurred in Ms. Ellen's bedroom, more specifically in CBL's initial assertion, under the waterbed, though later she said it was on the waterbed. (Tr. 239-240). CBL also told Ing, according to Ing's testimony that David Wilson's clothes were completely removed during this testimony. (Tr. 240). Again, CBL did not mention anything to Ing about David Wilson inserting a finger or fingers into her, telling Ing that his hands were "on her vaginal area". CBL also said that she had touched his penis, after first denying this to Ing. Per CBL's statement to Ing, she only touched David Wilson in this one incident in Ms. Ellen's bedroom. (Tr. 241). CBL, in her questioning by Ing, could not tell Ing how long any of the incidents lasted. (Tr. 242). CBL never told Ing that David Wilson had threatened to harm her parents if she told anyone. (Tr. 242).

III. Testimony of Defense Witnesses

Mr. Wilson called his mother, Ms. Ellen as a witness and testified in his own behalf.

A. Ms. Ellen Wilson, Direct

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