DAVID PAUL WILSON

VS.

FILED

APPELLANT

MAR 27 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-1397

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

She then described the incident that occurred in Miss Ellen's bedroom. She said that they were in the bedroom; again, the door was locked. She initially stated or described that they were under the bed. I asked her if they were under the bed, on top of the bed or somewhere else, and she described that she was on the bed. Again, her clothing was partially removed. I inquired where Mr. Wilson was at that time. She described him as being in the bed as well.

At that point she said that she was going to show me. She laid [sic] down on the floor in my office and had one of her dolls laying [sic] next to her. She indicated again that she was touched on her genital area with the use of his hands. She stated that he was disrobed; that she was asked to touch him.

She eventually told me that she had touched him for just a short while. I asked her to describe what she felt. She stated that it was hard like a bone.

She indicated—I asked her if she had ever felt anything else other that just his hands. She said that she had felt his private against her legs or under her—against her underwear.

(T.224-26)

C.B.L. went on to tell Detective Ing "that she was asked to keep this a secret; that she was asked to swear" and that Wilson "had promised that she would get something if he allowed her to do this." When Detective Ing asked her how many times this had occurred, C.B.L "stated that it was a lot of times." (T.226-27)

Approximately a week after this investigation began, Detective Ing interviewed Wilson in her office. Wilson stated that C.B.L. "liked to engage" in tickling games, that he had tickled her, and "[t]hat if anything had happened, that it would have been accidental ... " Detective Ing ascertained that Wilson's date of birth was September 6, 1963. (T.229-31)

A few days later, Wilson telephoned Detective Ing and

inquired whether a T-shirt that he had in the bottom of his dresser drawer, which was a Big Johnson T-shirt that were pretty popular back in the '90's, if [C.B.L.] could have actually picked that up and looked at it and gotten her details from the T-shirt itself. The T-shirt he described had a male and a female, and the female had her pants partially down to where you could see her buttocks area.

(T.231-32)

On cross-examination, Detective Ing testified that C.B.L. had described an attempted penetration, but she clarified that C.B.L. had described that the finger "was sort of inside." (T.232-33)

Ellen Wilson testified that one of her house rules was that the children in her charge did not "go further than the toy room" in the front part of the house. From June to November of 2003, her son David Wilson, who lived with her, was working for Hoyt's Construction Company in Bay St. Louis. He typically would leave the house at 6:30 a.m. and return about 4:10 p.m., "every day except Saturday and Sunday." Upon returning

home, he would "usually get him something to drink, a glass of tea or a Coke and sit down for a few minutes, and then he would go get his shower." While she was in her care, C.B.L. was always under Mrs. Wilson's supervision. She had observed her son and C.B.L. tickling each other on the couch. From the chair in which she regularly sat, she had a clear view of the hall; she had never seen C.B.L. and Wilson coming out of bedrooms or the bathroom together. (T.255-62)

The defendant took the stand and denied that he had ever touched C.B.L. inappropriately or exposed himself to her. He also testified that he had never been alone with C.B.L. in his mother's bedroom. (T.277)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wilson's challenge to the multi-count indictment is procedurally barred and substantively without merit. Wilson's claim that the jury was not properly sworn is without merit. Wilson's claim that his indictment was "too vague to defend" is procedurally barred and substantively without merit.

The trial court did not err in granting Instructions S-3, S-4 and S-6.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of the defendant's voice stress test results.

The verdicts are based on legally sufficient proof and are not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

PROPOSITION ONE:

WILSON'S CHALLENGE TO THE MULTI-COUNT INDICTMENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT

Wilson first contends that his convictions must be reversed because he was tried on a multi-count indictment. He did not raise this issue below and may not be heard to do so for the first time on appeal. In *Patrick v. State*, 754 So.2d 1194, 1196 (Miss.2000), the Mississippi Supreme Court held unequivocally that the appellant, having failed to raise the issue at trial, was procedurally barred from asserting that he was prejudiced by having been put to trial on a multi-count indictment. Having failed to move the court to quash the indictment or sever the counts, Wilson likewise is procedurally barred from asserting this argument on appeal.

Solely in the alternative, without conceding the necessity for doing so, the state responds to the merits of this argument. MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-7-2 (1) (b) (Rev.2000), provides that

[t]wo (2) or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment with a separate count for each offense if: ... the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

(emphasis added)

The proof presented by the state showed that defendant engaged in a pattern of sexual offenses, over a period of months, at the same location and against the same victim. These offenses clearly were "interwoven," i.e., "connected together from a common scheme of sexual misconduct," and thus were properly chargeable and triable on a multicount indictment. *Broderick v. State*, 878 So.2d 103, 105 (Miss.App.2003), *rehearing*

denied, certiorari denied, 878 So.2d 66.² Accord, *Eakes v. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 861-62 (Miss.1995) (charges of two counts of sexual battery and one count of attempted sexual battery were properly combined in indictment).

Even had the lower court been presented with a motion to quash the indictment or sever the counts, it would have been well within its discretion in denying relief and ordering the trial to proceed on the multi-count indictment. For these reasons, Wilson's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

WILSON'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY WAS NOT PROPERLY SWORN IS WITHOUT MERIT

Wilson argues additionally that the verdicts are a nullity because the "jury was not sworn with either the capital oath or the general oath as is statutorily required for all juries." (Brief for Appellant 20) The state counters that Wilson has "procedurally waived his claim" because he "did not object to the issue of the unsworn jury until his trial was completed and a verdict was rendered." *Stewart v. State*, 881 So.2d 919, 923 (Miss. App. 2004). Accord, *Golden v. State*, 968 So.2d 378, 385 (Miss.2007); *Woulard v. State*, 823 So.2d 561, 5467 (Miss. 2002).

In the alternative, the state acknowledges that, as in *Dunagin v. State*, 915 So.2d 1063, 1071 (Miss. App. 2005) "the transcript does not include the actual giving of the juror oath." However, the cover page of the transcript recites that this case was heard before

²In *Broderick*, the Court of Appeals upheld an indictment charging two counts of lustful touching and two counts of sexual battery against two different girls. Certainly, then, the indictment in this case is proper.

"a jury of twelve men and women, duly impaneled." Furthermore, Instruction C-1, given without objection, reads in pertinent part as follows: "When you took your places in the jury box, you made an oath that you would follow and apply these rules of law to the evidence in reaching your verdict in this case." (C.P.37) (T.294) Finally, the judgment also sets out that the jury was "empaneled, chosen and accepted ... " In light of *Dunagin*, these factors are sufficient to sustain the presumption that the trial court performed its duties in administering the proper oath to the jury. For these reasons, Wilson's second proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION THREE:

WILSON'S CLAIM THAT HIS INDICTMENT WAS "TOO VAGUE TO DEFEND" IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT

Under his third proposition, Wilson contends that his indictment failed constitutionally because it was "too vague to defend." Specifically, he claims that he "could not defendant against an indictment alleging that either or both of the two separate crimes charged could have occurred at any time over a period of approximately six months." (Brief for Appellant 24) Regarding the claim of "overbroad dates," the state submits that this alleged defect was waived by the failure to demur or otherwise challenge the indictment below. Wilson never indicated to the trial court that he required a more definite time frame in order to present a defense, and he may not be heard to do so for the first time on appeal.

³The indictment charged that these offenses were committed "on or between June, 2003, to November, 2003." (C.P.7)

In *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569, 572 (Miss. App. 2001), to the contrary, the defendant filed a motion to quash. Accord, *Morris v. State*, 595 So.2d 840, 841 42 (Miss.1991). Therefore, the defendant's reliance on *Moses* is misplaced. This belatedly-alleged flaw has been waived.

Although no further discussion is necessary, the state submits for the sake of argument that "a specific date in a child sexual abuse indictment is not required so long as the defendant is fully and fairly advised of the charges against him." *Morris*, 595 So.2d at 842, cited in *Davis v. State*, 760 So.2d 55, 59 (Miss. App. 2000). Accord, *Eakes v. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 860 (Miss.1995).

For these reasons, the state respectfully submits Wilson's third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING INSTRUCTIONS S-3, S-4 AND S-6

Wilson argues next that the trial court committed reversible error in granting Instructions S-3, S-4 and S-6, set out below. The first of those challenged charges is set out as follows: "The Court instructs the Jury that 'sexual penetration' is any penetration of the genital openings of another person's body by any part of a person's body." (C.P.49) When S-3 was tendered, defense counsel stated affirmatively that he had no objection to it. (T.296) It follows that Wilson's challenge to this instruction "is not properly before this Court. An appellate court may only review those matters properly preserved for appeal during trial." *Kearley v. State*, 843 So.2d 66, 69 (Miss. App. 2002). Solely in the alternative, the state submits that this instruction is a correct statement of the law. *McKnight v. State*, 738 So.2d 312, 318 (Miss. App. 1999). Moreover, because penetration

is not an element of the offense of touching a child for lustful purposes, S-2 could not have confused the jury in its determination of Wilson's guilt of that crime.

Instruction S-4 is reprinted as follows:

The Court instructs the Jury that in order to sustain a conviction for the crime of Sexual Battery some penetration must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. However, it need not be full penetration. Even the slightest penetration is sufficient to prove the crime of Sexual Battery.

(C.P.50)

This instruction, too, is a correct statement of the law. As the prosecutor pointed out during argument on this point, an identical charge was approved in *McKnight*, 738 So.2d at 318. (T.297) Moreover, in *Morris v. State*, 913 So.2d 432, 435-36 (Miss. App. 2005), the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that a similar instruction placed undue emphasis on the testimony of the minor victim.⁴ The trial court did not err in granting Instruction S-4.

Finally, Instruction S-6 informed the jury that "a child under the age of fourteen (14) years cannot legally consent to the act of sexual penetration, however slight." (C.P.51) The defense objected, apparently on the ground of the absence of an evidentiary basis for this charge. The court then ruled as follows:

Well, I don't know about that. I don't think there has been either, but I'm going to give it because from the testimony of the child, the jury might get the idea that the child consented to the touching by her participating in tickling and touching and so forth. And they should be aware that a child cannot give consent to anything, so I'm going to give it.

⁴In this case, as in *Morris*, the court instructed the jurors that they were "not to single out one instruction alone as stating the law" but were required to "consider these instructions as a whole." (C.P.37)

(T.298-99)

For the first time on appeal, Wilson asserts that Instruction S-6 was improper because it instructed the jury peremptorily as to C.B.L.'s age. Wilson may not be heard "to assert grounds other than those on which his trial objection was based." *Bates v. State*, 952 So.2d 320, 324 (Miss. App. 2007). His appellate argument was not made below and therefore is not preserved for review.

Alternatively, the state submits for the sake of argument that Instruction S-2 included the finding that C.B.L. was a child under the age of 14 as an element of the crime of sexual battery and required the jury to find this fact in order to return a verdict of guilty of sexual battery. (C.P.48) Moreover, Instruction S-6 is a correct statement of the law. See *Reese v. State*, 879 So.2d 505. 510 (Miss. App. 2004). Wilson's challenge to Instruction S-6 lacks substantive as well as procedural merit.

For these reasons, Wilson's fourth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FIVE:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S VOICE STRESS TEST RESULTS

Under his fifth proposition, Wilson contends that the trial court committed reversible error in excluding evidence of his voice stress test without first conducting a *Daubert*⁵ hearing. This issue arose when the state moved *in limine* to exclude this evidence. During the hearing on this motion, the following was taken

MR. SMITH: ... Secondly, urge Your Honor, in the

⁵Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

investigation of this case, there was a polygraph investigation of this case, there was a polygraph investigation submitted to the defendant. Voluntarily he took a—it was not a polygraph.

MR. WITTMAN: Voice analysis.

MR. SMITH: – voice stress analysis test. And it was a test where the detective who gave him the voice stress analysis test deemed that his answers were truthful and that he was not being deceptive in his denials of those allegations. We would offer that under very Court in the United States, including the Witherspoon case, which was a 1999 case from Mississippi, that evidence of a polygraph test, the results of it, even offering to take a polygraph test would be inadmissible, and we would ask the Court to so direct.

THE COURT: That will be sustained.

(T.89-90)

The defense did nothing to counter the state's argument and indeed gave the court no indication that it desired to have this evidence introduced. "The burden of showing the admissibility of evidence is on the proponent of the evidence." *Harveston v. State*, 798 So.2d 638 (Miss. App. 2001). Having declined to offer any opposition to the state's attempt to exclude this evidence or any objection to the court's ruling,⁶ Wilson may not put the trial

⁶The trial court enjoys discretion in admitting or excluding evidence. *Woods v. State*, 973 So.2d 1022, 1030 (Miss. App. 2008). To demonstrate reversible error in the court's ruling, the appellant must show that the trial court abused its discretion and that the admission or exclusion affected a substantial right. *Kidd v. State*, 793 So.2d 675, 681 (Miss. App. 2001). Even if this alleged error were preserved for review, the state submits Wilson would be unable to demonstrate abuse of discretion and prejudice. He has cited no authority approving the admission of evidence of voice stress test results. There is authority to the contrary. *State v. Gaudet*, 638 So.2d 1216, 1221-22 (La.App.1st Cir.1994) ("[t]he results of a voice stress analysis test are not admissible at trial").

court in error for excluding this evidence. See *University Medical Center v. Johnson*, ___ So.2d ___ (Miss. App., decided May 22, 2007) (2007 WL1470469) (certiorari granted).

The trial court will not be put in error on a point not presented to it. *Gonzales v. State*, 963 So.2d 1138, 1144 (Miss.2007). Having failed to raise *Daubert* below or to advocate in any way for the admission of evidence of the results of his voice stress test, Wilson has waived his fifth point. His fifth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION SIX:

THE VERDICTS ARE BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND ARE NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

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